S253574

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FILED

JUN 1 2 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

LEOPOLDO PENA MENDOZA, ET AL., Plaintiffs and Appellants,

Deputy

v.

FONSECA MCELROY GRINDING, INC., ET AL., Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT, CASE NO. 17-15221

JUDGE WILLIAM H. ORRICK, CASE NO. 3-15-CV-05143-WHO

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JUSTICE AT WORK LAW GROUP

Tomas E. Margain, SBN 193555 84 West Santa Clara Street, Suite 790 San Jose, California 95113 Telephone: (408) 317-1100 Email: Tomas@jawlawgroup.com

ESNER, CHANG & BOYER

ISSUE CERTIFIED FOR REVIEW

This Court granted the Ninth Circuit's request to resolve the following certified question: Is operating engineers' offsite "mobilization work"—including the transportation to and from a public works site of roadwork grinding equipment—performed "in the execution of [a] contract for public work," Cal. Lab. Code § 1772, such that it entitles workers to "not less than the general prevailing rate of per diem wages for work of a similar character in the locality in which the public work is performed" pursuant to section 1771 of the California Labor Code?

INTRODUCTION

As this Court has long recognized, California's prevailing wage law ("PWL") is a comprehensive statutory scheme designed to enforce minimum wage standards on construction projects funded in whole or in part with public funds. (Lab. Code §§ 1720-1861; *Lusardi Construction Co. v. Lloyd W. Aubry, Jr.* (1992) 1 Cal.4th 976, 985.) The PWL was enacted to protect and benefit workers and the public and is to be liberally construed. Under Labor Code section 1772, so long as the subcontract is "in the execution of any contract for public work," plaintiff is "deemed to be employed upon public work" and entitled to prevailing wages. (*Ibid.*) Under controlling case law, this determination turns on whether the subcontract was "integral" to the general contract.

The question presented here is whether employees who perform work at a construction site for which they are unquestionably entitled to a prevailing wage, are also entitled to a prevailing work for the "mobilization work" they performed away from the construction site. In this case, that mobilization work primarily consisted of transporting heavy equipment (milling machines) to the work site so that these same employees could then use those machines in their construction work.

In concluding that this is an issue warranting this Court's attention, the Ninth Circuit referenced a series of Court of Appeal opinions arising in the context of hauling materials to or from a construction site or the off site fabrication of materials to be used at the construction site. These cases conclude that, because the work in question is being performed off-site, the work must emanate from a facility that was exclusively dedicated to the particular public works project in question for section 1772 to be implicated. Since the storage yards in this case were not all exclusively

dedicated to the subject construction project, the Ninth Circuit concluded assistance by this Court was needed.

As explained below, regardless whether these hauling and off-site fabrication cases were correctly decided in their factual context, their analysis has no application here. First, the focus on where the work is performed for purposes of determining whether section 1772 applies, runs afoul of fundamental rules of statutory construction. The federal Davis-Bacon Act expressly requires that the prevailing wage be paid to all workers "employed directly on the site of the work." (40 U.S.C. § 3142(c)(1).) California's PWL has no similar geographic limitation. Nevertheless, the California courts which have developed the exclusively dedicated standard to determine whether off-site work is entitled to a prevailing wage, have relied on decisions from other jurisdictions which interpret the Davis-Bacon Act. The fact that California's Legislature has never enacted such a geographic limitation – although it has had ample time to do so – is testament to the fact that California has no similar limitation.

In any event, the rationale why the California Court of Appeal cases have developed the exclusively dedicated standard as to certain off-site work is (1) to ensure that prevailing wages are required for only that work furthering the purposes of the PWL and (2) to ensure that there are some limitations as to when a prevailing wage must be paid to contractors. These concerns – even if they are a valid reason for recognizing a limitation not imposed by the PWL itself – have no application here. Mobilization work such as that being performed by these plaintiffs is by definition exclusively tethered to the public work being performed at the construction site. Mobilization work, by its very nature, is to ensure that resources and manpower are transferred to a construction site for the completion of the work being performed there. In other words, absent the construction work at the job site, there is no mobilization work to begin with. And because of

the nature of that mobilization work, it is necessarily the case, that there is already a geographic relationship between the construction site and the mobilization work. This case presents a prime example.

As described, the principal mobilization work performed by plaintiffs was transporting heavy equipment they were going to use, to the construction site. As a practical matter, since this equipment needed to be transported to the site each day and transported back to the storage yard each night, the storage yard had to be in close proximity to the construction site. Otherwise, the employees would spend a significant part of their workday transporting the machinery rather than using it at the construction site.

In addition, it is not disputed that this machinery was necessary for these very employees to perform their public work duties at the construction site. Unless they performed the mobilization work, they would not have been able to perform their work at the construction site for which they were unquestionably entitled to a prevailing wage. Under any definition, this work was therefore "integral" to the work at the construction site and thus was "in the execution of any contract for public work," under section 1772, entitling plaintiffs to a prevailing wage.

It is clear, that if this same work had been performed at the construction site, plaintiffs would have been paid a prevailing wage. The mere fact that the same mobilization work was performed elsewhere should not matter.

In short, in keeping with the text and purpose of the PWL, plaintiffs urge the Court to rule: When a worker performs on-site construction entitling him or her to a prevailing wage for that work, then that worker is also entitled to a prevailing wage for his or her "mobilization work" away from the construction site which is necessary for the worker to be able to perform work at the construction site after he or she arrives there. This

includes the mobilization work transporting machinery or equipment the worker must use at the work site which cannot be stored there. Under this standard, these plaintiffs were entitled to be paid a prevailing wage for their off-site mobilization work as well as for their work at the construction site.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This matter was presented to the Ninth Circuit following competing summary judgment motions which were largely based on stipulated facts appearing at Excerpts of Record ("ER") 300. In its certification opinion, the Ninth Circuit set forth the following factually summary:

"Plaintiffs-Appellants Leopoldo Pena Mendoza, Elviz Sanchez, and Jose Armando Cortes (Plaintiffs) are operating engineers and members of Operating Engineers Local No. 3. They worked on grinding crews, using milling equipment to break up and crush asphalt roadbeds so that new roads could be constructed. At times, their work duties included what they referred to as "mobilization" work, 'which entailed loading milling machines, which w[ere] stored at [a] permanent yard or in offsite storage locations, onto a lowbed trailer; tying down or otherwise securing the heavy equipment onto the lowbed trailer; performing a light, brake, and fluid level check of a semi-truck used to transport the heavy equipment; driving a transport truck transporting the milling machine to a construction jobsite; and driving the transport truck transporting the milling machine back to [the] permanent yard."

"As part of this mobilization process, Plaintiffs reported to a designated yard where the equipment was housed, and then performed the maintenance and transportation work. Neither the permanent yard nor the offsite storage locations depended on any public works project for their existence.

"Defendant-Appellee Fonseca McElroy Grinding Co. Inc. (FMG), a roadwork construction company, was acquired by Defendant-Appellee Granite Rock Company (Granite Rock, and together with FMG, Defendants) in 2014. FMG and Granite Rock were both signatory parties to the Operating Engineers Local No. 3 Master Agreement for Northern

California (Master Agreement). In 2010, FMG entered into an additional Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with Local No. 3, which provided for a "Lowbed Transport" wage rate for mobilization work; this rate for offsite work was lower than the Master Agreement rates for onsite construction. Granite Rock was also a signatory to the MOA.

"Plaintiffs worked for FMG and then Granite Rock, including on public works construction projects, and received compensation based on the Master Agreement and MOA. Accordingly, although they received a prevailing wage for onsite construction on public works projects, they were not paid a prevailing wage for offsite mobilization work. Plaintiffs estimate that "[t]he ballpark difference between the two overtime rates in August [] 2012 was \$67.72 (prevailing wage) and \$23.89 (lowbed transportation) for an underpayment of \$38.38 in the base pay. Defendants note that "[t]he public works contracts under which Plaintiffs worked did not specify the daily schedule for Granite Rock's workers," and "[t]hus Granite Rock determined whether [they] would report directly to the construction jobsite or its yard" and "what tasks, if any, [they] would perform after completing their jobsite work."

"On November 9, 2015, Mendoza brought claims under the Fair Labor Standards Act and California labor laws for nonpayment of wages. Three months later, he, along with Sanchez and Cortes, filed an amended complaint.

"The parties addressed the dispute that forms the basis of this appeal through cross-motions for partial summary judgment, which the district court heard on October 26 2016. On November 28, 2016, the court entered an order in which it concluded that the offsite mobilization of equipment was not "in the execution" of a public works contract." (*Mendoza v. Fonseca McElroy Grinding Co.* (N.D. Cal. Nov. 28, 2016) No. 15-cv05143-WHO, 2016 WL 6947552, at *1.) Following this determination,

the parties settled all remaining issues, except the dispute now before us. (Mendoza v. Fonseca McElroy Grinding Co., Inc. (9th Cir. 2019) 913 F.3d ¶11, 913-914.)

ARGUMENT

I. SINCE PLAINTIFFS' OFF-SITE MOBILIZATION WORK WAS "IN EXECUTION" OF THEIR WORK AT THE CONSTRUCTION SITE, THEY WERE ENTITLED TO A PREVAILING WAGE UNDER LABOR CODE SECTION 1772 REGARDLESS WHETHER THAT WORK WAS PERFORMED AWAY FROM THE CONSTRUCTION SITE.

A. California's Prevailing Wages Law.

"When the California Legislature established the Labor Code in 1937, it replaced the 1931 Public Wage Rate Act with a revised, but substantively unchanged, version of the same law. (Stats.1937, ch. 90, § 1720 et seq., pp. 241–246.)" (State Building & Construction Trades Council of California v. City of Vista (2012) 54 Cal.4th 547, 555.) The 1931 enactment was "contemporaneous with enactment of its federal counterpart, the Davis–Bacon Act (codified at 40 U.S.C. §§ 3141–3148). Prevailing wage laws were enacted in response to economic conditions resulting from the Depression, when the oversupply of labor due to the virtual cessation of private construction was exploited by unscrupulous contractors to win government contracts. (See Universities Research Assn. v. Coutu (1981) 450 U.S. 754, 774, 101 S.Ct. 1451, 67 L.Ed.2d 662.)" (Azusa Land Partners v. Department of Industrial Relations (2010) 191 Cal.App.4th 1, 14.)

The California prevailing wage law ("PWL") is a comprehensive statutory scheme designed to enforce minimum wage standards on construction projects funded in whole or in part with public funds. (Lab.

Code §§ 1720-1861; Lusardi Construction Co., v. Lloyd W. Aubry, Jr. (1992) 1 Cal.4th 976, 985.) The PWL was enacted to protect and benefit workers and the public and is to be liberally construed. (Lusardi Construction Co. at 985; O.G. Sansone Co. v. Department of Transportation (1976) 55 Cal.App.3d 434, 458; and McIntosh v. Aubry (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 1576, 1583.) Under the PWL, all workers employed on public works projects costing more than \$1,000 must be paid not less than the general prevailing rate of per diem wages as determined by the Director of the Department of Industrial Relations for work of a similar character and not less than the general prevailing per diem wage for holiday and overtime work. (Lusardi at 987; Lab. Code §§ 1770, 1771, 1772 & 1774.) A contractor for a public works project that fails to pay the prevailing rate to its workers is liable for the deficiency and is subject to a statutory penalty. (Lab. Code § 1775.)

The Legislature has declared that it is the public policy of California "to vigorously enforce minimum labor standards in order to ensure employees are not required or permitted to work under substandard unlawful conditions, and to protect employers who comply with the law from those who attempt to gain competitive advantage at the expense of their workers by failing to comply with minimum labor standards." (Lab. Code § 90.5, subd.(a).) The duty to pay the prevailing wage to employees on a public works project extends to both the prime contractor and all subcontractors. (Lab. Code § 1774; *Road Sprinkler Fitters Local Union No. 669 v. G&G Fire Sprinklers, Inc.* (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 765, 776.)

Under California's PWL, "public works" is generally defined as "[c]onstruction, alteration, demolition, installation, or repair work done

under contract and paid for in whole or in part out of public funds." (Lab. Code $\S 1720(a)(1)$.)¹

As the Ninth Circuit framed the issue in its certification opinion: "Plaintiffs' performed work on the public works site that indisputably qualified for the prevailing wage, leaving us to determine whether work they performed offsite in connection with those efforts should be similarly compensated [under section 1772]." (Slip Opinion 14.) As now explained, they should be.

B. An Employee's "Mobilization Work" Which Is Necessary
For The Employee To Be Able To Perform His Or Her
Construction Work At A Public Works Site Is, By Its
Very Nature, "In Execution Of A Public Works Contract"
Under Section 1772.

Initially, there is no question that plaintiffs were entitled to be paid a wage of some amount for their "mobilization work." (See *Morillion v. Royal Packing Co.* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 575, 582–583 [Agricultural workers entitled to pay for travel time while on employer supplied buses.]; *Mendiola v. CPS Security Solutions, Inc.* (2015) 60 Cal.4th 833, 840–841 [Security guards entitled to be paid for their on-call hours].) The only question is whether they were entitled to a prevailing wage for that work.

Section 1772 provides: "Workers employed by contractors or subcontractors *in the execution* of any contract for public work are deemed to be employed upon public work. (Italics added.) A number of California cases have concluded that under section 1772, the critical inquiry in

¹ All further statutory references are to the California Labor Code unless otherwise indicated.

determining whether one's work on a subcontract "in the execution of [a] contract for public work' (§ 1772) [is] whether [the subcontractors] were . . . conducting an operation truly independent of the performance of the general contract for public work, as opposed to conducting work that was integral to the performance of that general contract." (Williams v. SnSands Corp. (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 742, 752; see also O. G. Sansone Co. v. Dep't of Transp. (1976) 55 Cal.App.3d 434, 445 [finding that § 1772 was met when the general contractor contracted with a subcontractor to "perform an integral part of [the general contractor's] obligation under the prime contract"]; Sheet Metal Workers' Int'l Ass'n, Local 104 v. Duncan (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 192, 212-14 [same].)

The language of section 1772 and the cases interpreting it establish that the determination whether work performed away from the public works site is "in execution of a public works contract" entitling the employee to a prevailing wage, is dependent upon the relationship between that off-site work and the work performed at the construction site. In particular, the cases have focused on the use of the word "execution."

The familiar meaning of "execution" as used in section 1772 is "the action of carrying into effect (a plan, design, purpose, command, decree, task, etc.); accomplishment" (5 Oxford English Dict. (2d ed.1989) p. 521); "the act of carrying out or putting into effect" (Black's Law Dict. (8th ed.2004) p. 405, col. 1); or "the act of carrying out fully or putting completely into effect, doing what is provided or required." (Webster's 10th New Collegiate Dict. (2001) p. 405.) Therefore, the use of "execution" in the phrase "in the execution of any contract for public work," plainly means the carrying out and completion of all provisions of the contract, regardless whether that work would constitute a public works if it were viewed independently.

In this case, plaintiffs were working at the job site performing tasks which, as the Ninth Circuit recognized, entitled them to a prevailing wage. The issue here, therefore, is whether their off-site work was in the "execution" of the work they were performing at the road construction site to entitle them to a prevailing wage for that work as well. As now explained, it was.

Mobilization work is generally defined as "Activation of a contractor's physical and manpower resources for transfer to a construction site until the completion of the contract."

(http://www.businessdictionary.com/definition/mobilization.html.) Under this general definition, mobilization work is work which by its very nature is exclusively dedicated to the performance of construction work at the construction site. Here Plaintiffs' off-site "mobilization work" falls squarely within this definition as it was activity necessary to "carry into effect" or "accomplish" the public works they were to perform at the construction site. The primary aspect of the mobilization work being performed here was transporting the grinding machines which plaintiffs needed to use once they arrived at the public works construction site. Without the grinding machinery plaintiffs were inspecting and hauling to the work-site, it would have been impossible for them to perform their road-grinding work once they arrived. Accordingly, that mobilization work was the very essence of work "in the execution of [a] contract for public work" under section 1772.

While no case appears to have directly addressed this issue, the DIR recognizes that the work being performed by plaintiffs here falls within section 1772.

The DIR's official Public Works Policy and Procedures Manual states the following:

Compensable Travel Time. Travel time related to a public works project constitutes "hours worked" on the project, which is payable at not less than the prevailing rate based on the classification, unless the Director's determination for that classification specifically includes a lesser travel time rate. (See Director's Decision in In the Matter of Kern Asphalt Paving & Sealing Co., Inc. (March 28, 2008), Case No. 04-0117-PWH. (See also Morillion v. Roval Packing Co. (2000) 22 Cal.4th 575).) Travel time required by an employer after a worker reports to the first place at which his or her presence is required by the employer is compensable travel time, and includes travel to a public work site, whether from the contractor's yard, shop, another public work site, or a private job site. All such compensable travel time must be paid at the same prevailing wage rate required for the work actually performed by the worker at the public works site. No additional facts, such as whether tools or supplies are being delivered by the worker to the site, need be present.

(ER Vol II at 168, italics added.)

In its certification opinion, the Ninth Circuit referenced this statement by the DIR, and explained:

Given that DIR decisions, while not binding, are at the very least revealing, this provision seems to favor Plaintiffs' position. This is particularly true because the provision was undergirded by the DIR's decision in *In re Kern Asphalt Paving & Sealing Co.*, No. 04-0117-PWH, in which it concluded that travel time was compensable at the prevailing Case: 17-15221, 01/15/2019, ID: 11153038, DktEntry: 41-1, Page 16 of 20 wage for employees' work on a public jobsite. With regard to the prevailing wage, the DIR wrote:

The relevant prevailing wage determinations contain no special rate for travel time. In the absence of any evidence to the contrary, the required travel time must be regarded as incidental to the workers' regular duties and payable at the same prevailing rates that apply to the classification associated with those duties. [The employer] has presented no argument or evidence supporting a different rate outside of its contention that it was not obligated to pay for the travel time at all. (footnote omitted). Although this determination supports Plaintiffs' position, DIR determinations must be designated as precedential in order "to be relied upon in subsequent

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