SEP 1 1 2019

	Jorge Navarrete Clerk
S253574	<u> </u>
	Deputy
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CA	LIFORNIA

LEOPOLDO PENA MENDOZA, ET AL.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

FONSECA MCELROY GRINDING CO., INC., ET AL.,

Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE NINTH CIRCUIT COURT OF APPEALS CASE NO. 17-15221

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Paul. V. Simpson, State Bar No. 83878 Sarah E. Lucas, State Bar No. 148713 Simpson, Garrity, Innes & Jacuzzi, P.C. 601 Gateway Boulevard, Ste. 950 South San Francisco, California 94080 Telephone: (650) 615-4860 Facsimile: (650) 615-4861

E-mail: psimpson@sgijlaw.com

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 26, 2016, the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California, the Honorable William H. Orrick, heard the parties' cross-motions for partial summary judgment on Plaintiff's claim for failure to pay the prevailing wage rate in violation of California Labor Code sections 1771 and 1774. ER 19-36. The District Court found that none of the mobilization work performed by Plaintiffs was not an integrated aspect of the flow process of construction under the public works contracts and that, therefore, Plaintiffs are not entitled to the prevailing wage rate for mobilization work. ER 3, 18. Accordingly, on November 28, 2016, the District Court granted FMG's and Granite Rock's motion for partial summary judgment and denied Plaintiff's cross-motion. *Id*.

Plaintiffs' remaining claims were dismissed or resolved, and on January 12, 2017, the District Court entered final judgment on behalf of Granite Rock and against Plaintiffs. ER 1-2.

Plaintiffs appealed to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. Finding no controlling precedent on the issue of whether offsite mobilization work

in connection with a public works contract is performed "in the execution of a contract for public work," such that it entitles workers to prevailing wages pursuant to the California Labor Code, the Ninth Circuit certified the question to this Court. Order Certifying Question to the California Supreme Court, dated Jan. 15, 2019.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

California's prevailing wage law requires that contractors and subcontractors pay prevailing wages to all workers they employ on public works. Labor Code §§ 1771, 1772. The law's text, structure and legislative history unequivocally establish that the off-site mobilization work performed by Plaintiffs—the offsite readying and transportation of a roadwork grinding or "milling" machine to and from a public works construction site—is <u>not</u> within the scope of the prevailing wage law.

The scope of the prevailing wage law is delineated through the term "public works" as defined in Article 1 of the law, Labor Code section 1720 *et. seq.* Labor Code sections 1772 and 1774, found in Article 2 of the prevailing wage law, do not operate to define or expand the law's scope. The Legislature has chosen to extend the scope of the prevailing wage law under Article 1 to off-site work only in limited circumstances, such as the off-hauling of refuse to a public disposal site and the delivery of readymixed concrete, and has specifically declined to extend prevailing wage requirements to other off-site work. See, Labor Code §§1720.3, 1720.9. Despite numerous amendments to the prevailing wage law over the past three quarters century, the Legislature has never seen fit to expand its coverage to off-site work generally or to mobilization work specifically.

Even assuming arguendo, it is proper to focus on Sections 1772 and 1774 to determine the scope of the prevailing wage law coverage, Plaintiffs' off-site mobilization work is not "in the execution of" a contract for public work under those provisions. The California courts have

repeatedly held that off-site work is in the execution of a public works contract only when it is integral to or an integrated aspect of the flow process of construction. Plaintiffs off-site work associated with readying the milling machine at Defendant's permanent yard for use and transport to and from a public works construction site is not integrated into the flow process of construction because it is performed at a permanent yard or storage facility which is not exclusively dedicated to any particular public works project and there is no evidence that this preparatory work was performed in fulfilment of any provision of the public works contract. Similarly, there is no evidence that Plaintiffs' off-site work of hauling the milling machines by semi-truck from the Defendant contractors' yard or other off-site storage locations to a public works construction site was required to carry out a term of the public works contract. Finally, transport of the milling machine after work is completed at the public works construction site back to the yard or other off-site storage location is not integrated into the flow process of construction. Applying the "integrated aspect" test articulated by the California courts, these key facts establish that none of the three distinct components of Plaintiffs' off-site mobilization work is "in the execution" of a contract for public work.

Plaintiffs' proposed novel expansive interpretation of the prevailing wage law – covering all activities that are "necessary" to perform work on the public works construction site—contravenes both case law authority and the legislative history of California's prevailing wage law. Nor is there any statutory, case law or administrative authority supporting Plaintiffs' position that they should be paid prevailing wages for their off-site mobilization related work tasks simply because they also performed work on the public work construction site. Plaintiffs' proposed extension of the prevailing wage law is best left to the Legislature to assess. Under the

current statutory framework and case precedent, Plaintiffs' off-site mobilization work is not within the law's scope.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Granite Rock is a closely-held construction materials company that provides asphalt, concrete, and other building materials for public and private commercial and residential construction projects. ER 3, 301. Defendant Fonseca McElroy Grinding Co. Inc. ("FMG") was a construction company specializing in road work. In or about April 2014, FMG was acquired by and merged with Granite Rock. At all times material, FMG and Granite Rock were signatory parties to the Operating Engineers Local No. 3 Master Agreement for Northern California ("Master Agreement"). ER 4, 301.

In or about September 2010, FMG entered into a Memorandum of Agreement ("MOA") with Operating Engineers Local No. 3, which provided for a "Lowbed Transport" wage rate for off-site mobilization work. The MOA provided for an hourly wage and fringe package for off-site mobilization work lower than Master Agreement rates for the work of operating heavy equipment, such as a milling machine, on construction sites. Granite Rock was also signatory to the MOA. The MOA supplemented the Master Agreement and applied to the distinct mobilization work performed by Appellants. ER 4, 301.

Plaintiffs/Appellants Leopoldo Pena Mendoza, Elviz Sanchez and Jose Armando Cortes ("Plaintiffs") are union members of Operating

Given the uncertainty related to prevailing wage coverage for the mobilization work covered by the MOA, the collective bargaining parties agreed that if during the term of the MOA the California Department of Industrial Relations ("DIR") determined that the rates set forth in the MOA were not in compliance with the law that they would return to the bargaining table. ER 301-302, 402. The DIR never made any such determination.

Engineers Local No. 3 who worked for FMG and then Granite Rock following its acquisition of FMG. At various times during their employment, Plaintiffs were employed by FMG or Granite Rock on "public works" construction projects as defined in California Labor Code Section 1720 (a)(1). ER 4, 301. FMG/Granite Rock paid Plaintiffs a prevailing wage rate as published by the California Department of Industrial Relations ("DIR") for the construction craft classification determination of operating engineer for all work performed at the site of construction on public works construction projects, including the operation of a milling machine used in breaking up asphalt and concrete on streets, roads and pavement. ER 4, 302, 405.

The public works contracts under which Plaintiffs worked did not specify the daily schedule for Granite Rock's workers, including Plaintiffs, or their place of reporting for work. ER 4, 302. Accordingly, Granite Rock determined whether Plaintiffs would report directly to the construction jobsite or to the company's yard or other off-site storage location to perform mobilization work prior to operating equipment at the construction jobsite. Granite Rock also determined what tasks, if any, Appellants would perform after completing their jobsite work, including assigning them to drive a transport truck transporting the milling machine back to Granite's yard or other off-site storage location.² ER 4, 302.

Plaintiffs were not paid a prevailing wage rate for the DIR classification determination of operating engineer while performing off-site "mobilization work" covered by the MOA. The mobilization work performed by Plaintiffs consisted of: loading a milling machine -- which

The milling machines, like other equipment, material and supplies delivered to a construction job site could remain on the construction jobsite for use on multiple days. On such days, Plaintiffs' workday began and ended at the construction jobsite rather than at the off-site yard or storage location. ER 29, 30.

was stored at FMG's or Granite Rock's permanent yard or other off-site storage locations -- onto a lowbed trailer, tying down or otherwise securing the heavy equipment onto the lowbed trailer and performing a light, brake and fluid level check of the semi-truck used to transport the milling machine before the transport truck left the yard. ER 5, 302, 91. The off-site locations where Plaintiffs performed certain off-site "mobilization" work tasks do not depend on any particular public works project for their existence. ER 5, 302. Plaintiffs then drove a transport truck transporting the milling machine from the yard or off-site storage location to a construction jobsite. At some point, depending on the duration of the job, Plaintiffs would drive the transport truck to haul the milling machine from the site of construction back to FMG's or Granite Rock's permanent yard of off-site storage location. ER 5, 302.

V. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

- A. Off-Site Mobilization Work Is Not Within The Scope Of The Prevailing Wage Law.
 - 1. The scope of California's prevailing wage law is set forth in Article 1, not Article 2, of the law's statutory scheme.

Article 1 of California's prevailing wage law, Labor Code section 1720 et. seq. -- entitled "Scope and Operation" -- defines the scope of prevailing wage coverage through the definition of "public works." Section 1720 (a)(1) generally defines "public works" as the following types of work: "[c]onstruction, alteration, demolition, installation, or repair work done under contract and paid for in whole or in part out of public funds." Section 1720(a) also establishes that certain on-site preconstruction and post-construction work is within the law's scope by providing that "construction" includes "work performed during the design and preconstruction phases of construction, including, but not limited to inspection and land surveying work, and work performed during the post-

construction phases of construction, including, but not limited to, all cleanup work at the jobsite." Labor Code §1720(a).

Section 1720 further sets the scope of the prevailing wage law by defining "public work" to include, *inter alia*, the following specific types of work: (1) work done for irrigation, utility, reclamation and improvement districts; (2) street, sewer and other improvements; (3) the laying of carpet done under a building lease-maintenance contract or in a public building done under contract and paid for out of public funds: and (4) tree removal work done in the execution of a project under Section 1720(a)(1). Labor Code § 1720(a)(2)-(5), (8).

Article 1 also extends prevailing wage coverage to certain specific and limited types of off-site work. Labor Code section 1720.3 provides that, for the purpose of Article 2 (payment of wages), the term "public works" includes the hauling of refuse from a public works site to an outside disposal location. Section 1720.9 provides that the hauling and delivery of ready-mixed concrete to carry out a public works contract is also included in the meaning of "public works" for purposes of Article 2.

Whereas Article 1 defines the scope of the prevailing wage law, Article 2, Labor Code section 1770 *et. seq.*—aptly entitled "Wages" -- addresses the wages to be paid to workers performing work within the law's scope as established by Article 1. Pursuant to the provisions of Article 2, workers employed by contractors or subcontractors on public works shall be paid at least the general prevailing rate for work of a similar character in the locality in which the public work is performed. Labor Code § 1771. Workers employed "in the execution of any contract for public work" are deemed to be employed upon a public work and are thus entitled to payment of prevailing wages. Labor Code §§ 1772, 1774. The Director of the Department of Industrial Relations is tasked with determining the general prevailing rate of per diem wages for each craft.

classification and type of worker that performs work within the prevailing wage law's scope. Labor Code §§ 1770, 1773, 1773.1, 1773.9. The Director has no authority under the prevailing wage law to extend prevailing wage coverage to types of work beyond that are not within the law's scope.

Article 2 further establishes the framework for ensuring employer compliance with the prevailing wage law. Labor Code section 1771.1 sets forth a registration requirement for contractors bidding on public works projects. Labor Code section 1776 requires employers to maintain and furnish certified payroll records showing actual per diem wages paid to each worker on a public works project. Labor Code section 1771.2 provides for a right of action against employers who fails to pay required prevailing wages or provide required payroll records. Labor Code section 1775 requires the payment of penalties by a contractor or subcontractor who fails to pay its workers prevailing wages. Thus, Article 2 establishes workers' entitlement to prevailing wages when performing the types of work within the scope of the prevailing wage law as defined in Article 1, establishes the authority and methodology for determining the general prevailing wage rate, and establishes a mechanism for ensuring those prevailing wages are paid. Nothing in Article 2 purports to set or expand the scope of the prevailing wage law beyond that established by Article 1.

2. Contrary to Plaintiffs' assertion, Labor Code sections 1772 and 1774 do not expand the scope of the prevailing wage law.

Plaintiffs' attempt to expand the scope of the prevailing wage law to include their off-site mobilization work by arguing that such work is "in the execution of" a public works contract under Labor Code sections 1772 and 1774. Plaintiffs' argument is fundamentally flawed because Sections 1772 and 1774 are set forth in Article 2 of the prevailing wage law and therefore, as discussed above, play no role in setting the scope of prevailing wage

coverage. These Article 2 provisions cannot be used, as Plaintiffs propose, to extend the prevailing wage law beyond the scope established by Article 1, which does not include off-site mobilization work. In construing the prevailing wage law, the Court must give effect to the Legislature's clear intention to delineate the scope of the prevailing wage law through the definition of "public work" in Article 1. *Pac. Palisades Bowl Mobile Estates, LLC v. City of L.A.* (2012) 55 Cal. 4th 783, 803 ("[I]n any case involving statutory interpretation, our fundamental task here is to determine the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the law's purpose") (quoting *In re C.H.* (2011) 53 Cal.4th 94, 100.)

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